FILED

SEP 28, 2012

Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington

NO. 30550-3-III

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION THREE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

MICHAEL DUKE COOMBES,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SPOKANE COUNTY

The Honorable Michael P. Price, Judge The Honorable Annette Plese, Judge

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

LISA E. TABBUT Attorney for Appellant P. O. Box 1396 Longview, WA 98632 (360) 425-8155

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The trial court erred in joining the intimidating a witness charge with the first degree murder charge.
- 2. The trial court erred when it joined the tampering with a witness charge with the first degree murder charge.
- 3. The joinder of the intimidating a witness charge and the tampering with a witness charge with the first degree murder charge denied Mr. Coombes a fair trial.
- 4. The trial court abused its discretion when its allowed the state to present evidence of Mr. Coombes' gun tattoo.
- 5. The admission of the gun tattoo evidence over Mr. Coombes' objection prejudiced Mr. Coombes.
- 6. The Information charging tampering with a witness did not give Mr. Coombes adequate notice of the uncharged alternatives the jury was given to consider.
- 7. The tampering with a witness conviction must be reversed because the jury could have reached a verdict on an uncharged alternative to the charge.
- 8. Mr. Coombes was denied effective counsel when his trial attorney failed to object to the tampering with a witness jury instruction that includes uncharged alternative means of committing the crime.

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Did the trial court err when it joined charges of intimidating a witness and tampering with a witness charges to Mr. Coombes' pending murder charge?
- 2. To be admissible, relevant evidence must be probative and not unduly prejudicial. In trying to make a photo of Mr. Coombes' gun tattoo relevant, the state cropped the photo such that the tattoo lost its true context and was only prejudicial. Did the trial court err in admitting the tattoo photo?
- 3. The state charged Mr. Coombes with only one of two alternative means of tampering with a witness. But the trial court instructed the jury it could find Mr. Coombes guilty of both means resulting in a guilty verdict based on prejudicial error. Must Mr. Coombes' tampering with a witness conviction be reversed?
- 4. Based on the evidence, the jury could have found Mr. Coombes guilty of an uncharged alternative means of tampering with a witness. Defense counsel failed to object to the tampering to-convict instruction thus allowing the jury to premise guilt on the uncharged alternative. Did defense counsel's failure deny Mr. Coombes effective counsel?

C. STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PRIOR PROCEEDINGS

1. Mr. Coombes pleaded guilty to first degree murder but later withdrew his plea.

In 2008, Mr. Coombes pleaded guilty to first degree murder and first degree unlawful possession of a firearm. Supp Designation of Clerk's Papers, Statement of Defendant on Plea of Guilty to Non-Sex Offense (sub. nom. 34, file no. 07-1-03527-4). He subsequently challenged the legality of the plea. This court found the trial court failed to notify Mr. Coombes that first degree murder has a 20-year mandatory minimum sentence. As a mandatory minimum sentence is a direct consequence of a guilty plea, Mr. Coombes' plea was not knowing, intelligent, and voluntary. This court remanded Mr. Coombes' case to the trial court. *In re Coombes*, (unpublished) 159 Wn. App. 1044, 2011 WL 240687 (2011).

On remand, the trial court appointed attorney Jeffrey Compton of the Spokane County Public Defender's Office to represent Mr. Coombes. After consulting with his counsel, Mr. Coombes chose to withdraw his first degree murder guilty plea. The trial court accepted Mr. Coombes' request to withdraw his guilty plea and reset the case for trial. CP ("Clerk's Papers") 3-4. RP ("Report of Proceedings") August 11, 2011, at 2-6.

2. The trial court denied Mr. Coombes' request to appoint different defense counsel.

Mr. Coombes asked the trial court to appoint new counsel. CP 6, 7; RP October 27, 2011, at 2. Mr. Coombes complained attorney Compton would not file certain suppression motions and he did not get along with attorney Compton. Id. at 2-3. Mr. Compton did not refute or challenge Mr. Coombes' complaints. Id. at 5.

Mr. Coombes also asked that outside counsel be appointed. RP October 27, 2011, at 3-4. A Spokane County Public Defender's Office attorney represented Mr. Coombes on the 2008 guilty plea that was later withdrawn. Id. at 3-4. Mr. Coombes felt the previous attorney did a poor job. Consequently, Mr. Coombes did not trust the abilities of the public defender's office attorneys. Id. at 2-5.

The trial court denied both requests. The trial court found no evidence of a specific conflict with attorney Compton or of a general conflict with the public defender's office. RP October 27, 2011, at 5-6. The court put its findings and conclusions in a written order. CP 8. Mr. Coombes did not renew his request for different counsel.

3. Over Mr. Coombes' objection, the trial court joined the murder charge with charges of intimidating a witness and tampering with a witness.

The state twice moved to join other charges with the first degree murder charge. In the first instance, the state moved to add an intimidating a witness charge.¹ RP August 25, 2011, at 9-10. In the second instance, the state moved to join a tampering with a witness charge. RP November 3, 2011, at 2.² CP 5. Mr. Coombes objected to the joinder of both the intimating and the tampering charges. In both instances, the trial court granted the state's request over Mr. Coombes' objection. RP August 25, 2011, at 9-11;³ RP November 3, 2011, at 3-4. As to the intimidation charge, the court took argument, deferred ruling, and later filed a written order. RP August 25, 2011, at 9-12; CP 11-12. As to the tampering charge, the court heard argument, granted the joinder motion, and later entered a written order. RP November 3, 2011, at 3-8; CP 9-10.

-

¹ The intimidating a witness charge was filed under Spokane County Superior Court Cause No. 11-1-00443-1. That file is not part of the appellate record because the jury acquitted Mr. Coombes of that charge.

² At the second joinder motion, the state mistakenly says the court previously joined another tampering with a witness charge. The previously joined charge was intimidating a witness.

³ In the verbatim report of proceedings, the court reporter mistakenly refers to defense counsel Mr. Compton using the name of the prosecutor, Mr. Garvin.

4. The court held a CrR 3.5 hearing and found Mr. Coombes' statements to Spokane police detectives admissible.

The court heard a CrR 3.5 hearing on the first day of trial. RP December 12, 2011, at 6-58. The state presented testimony from Spokane police detectives Burbridge and Madsen. Both testified about their training and experience in recognizing people under the influence of drugs or alcohol. Neither detective felt Mr. Coombes was under the influence when they interviewed him. Id. at 10-12, 25, 32-33. Both detectives testified Mr. Coombes made statements after signing a written waiver of his *Miranda* rights. Id. at 7-14, 22-27. When the detectives asked Mr. Coombes to make a recorded statement, Coombes invoked his right to counsel. Id. at 13, 26-27.

In its findings, the trial court found that Mr. Coombes was not under the influence of alcohol or drugs when he made a written knowing and intelligent waiver of his *Miranda* rights. As such, his statements to the detectives were admissible. Also admissible were certain spontaneous statements Mr. Coombes made to Detective Burbridge while being arrested.

The court later entered written findings of fact and conclusions of law. CP 16-18.

5. The trial court refused to grant Mr. Coombes' motion in limine to exclude evidence of his gun tattoo.

After his 2008 guilty plea, Mr. Coombes got a tattoo of a gun with walls in the background, the number "25," and a needle. RP December 12, 2011, at 9; RP December 15, 2011, at 540-41. At trial, the state wanted to show the jury a picture of the tattoo. RP December 12, 2011, at 59-61. Mr. Coombes objected. Id. at 60-61, 64. He argued the tattoo memorialized his 2008 plea and 25 year sentence. Showing the tattoo to the jury was a backdoor way of getting the plea before the jury in violation of ER 410. Id. at 61. Also, the tattoo was prejudicial and unnecessary because of "plenty of other potential evidence in this case." Id. at 61, 64. The state offered to crop its photo of the tattoo to only show the gun. Id. at 63. Mr. Coombes argued that a cropped photo would destroy the context of the tattoo and leave him with no ability to explain its true meaning in light of ER 410. RP December 12, 2011, at 63-64.

Ultimately, the court granted the state's motion to admit a cropped photo of the tattoo. RP December 13, 2011, at 199-201; RP December 15, 2011, at 540-41.

6. The trial court refused to grant Mr. Coombes' motion in limine to exclude his alleged statement at the time of arrest that he would have shot the arresting officers.

Mr. Coombes made a motion in limine to exclude specific postMiranda statements attributed to him. RP December 12, 2011, at 78. Mr.
Coombes anticipated testimony that he told detectives Burbridge and
Madsen that he would have shot officers while being arrested had the
officers not gotten the jump on him. Id. Mr. Coombes argued the
statements were not relevant to any issue before the court and were highly
prejudicial. Id. at 79. The trial court disagreed and found the statements
relevant to Mr. Coombes' state of mind. Id. at 81. The detectives testified
about the statements at trial. RP December 14, 2011, at 483-84.

7. Other than the shooter, there were no witnesses to the shooting of William "Red" Nichols.

On the afternoon of September 3, 2007, Linda Biggers was out foraging for her floral supply business in Spokane's Beacon Hill neighborhood. RP December 13, 2011, at 230; RP December 14, 2011, at 451. She stopped long enough to browse at a garage sale. She looked up on a hillside and saw what she thought might be a person lying in the bushes. A teenage boy volunteered to take a closer look. RP December 13, 2011, at 230. The teenager confirmed that the person was a man and he was dead. Id. at 231.

The Spokane police arrived in the late afternoon. RP December 14, 2011, at 451-52. Because it was late afternoon, they did what they could before dark and then preserved the scene overnight. RP December 15, 2011, at 544-46. The man's body was on a hillside just off a long residential driveway. RP December 14, 2011, at 451-52; RP December 15, 2011, at 545. The condition of the body suggested it had been there for some time. RP December 15, 2011, at 545. The man had a gunshot wound behind his right ear. RP December 15, 2011, at 501.

Findings at the autopsy lead to an identity of the man as William "Red" Nichols, age 53. RP December 15, 2011, at 501. He died of a brain injury caused by the entry of a single bullet into his skull. Id. at 517. It was estimated he had been dead three to five days. Id. at 497. During the autopsy, that bullet was collected and preserved for additional testing. Id. at 506.

The police found Mr. Nichols' Datsun station wagon parked outside a bar about a mile away from the hillside where Mr. Nichols' body was found. RP December 14, 2011, at 450.

Mr. Nichols was staying at the Spokane home of Lloyd Clark. RP December 13, 2011, at 293; RP December 14, 2011, at 349-50. It was described as a "drunk house." RP December 13, 2011, at 257. Bickering

and fights were common. RP December 13, 2011, at 240; RP December 14, 2011, at 385. There was also a lot of drug use at the house. Id. at 310.

Various other people lived at Lloyd Clark's house around this time including his daughter, Jamie Hall. RP December 14, 2011, at 349. Chris Landis was Ms. Hall's boyfriend. RP December 14, 2011, at 309, 347. Mr. Landis is Mr. Coombes' nephew. Id. at 308. Ms. Hall and Mr. Landis had various friends who they hung out with and used meth with to include Mr. Coombes, Jason Pletcher, and Eric Nelson. RP December 13, 2011, at 235-36, 259, 268; RP December 14, 2011, at 310, 319.

Mr. Coombes and Mr. Pletcher acquired a revolver. RP December 13, 2011, at 261, 338. They kept the revolver in a car parked in Lloyd Clark's yard. RP December 14, 2011, at 352. In late August 2007, Mr. Coombes and Mr. Pletcher bought revolver ammunition at Spokane's General Store. RP December 13, 2011, at 261. Both Mr. Coombes and Mr. Pletcher went to the "sticks" and fired the gun at a tree. RP December 13, 2011, at 269.

The last time anyone saw Mr. Nichols at Lloyd Clark's house, Mr. Nichols was drunk. RP December 14, 2011, at 312. Mr. Nichols and Mr. Landis argued. RP December 13, 2011, at 240, 265. Mr. Coombes got between them. RP December 13, 2011, at 266; RP December 14, 2011, at

313. Subsequently, Mr. Nichols grabbed his dog, a few possessions, and headed to his Datsun wagon. Id. at 271.

The Datsun had a bad starter and would not start without being pushed. RP December 13, 2011, at 270. Mr. Coombes and Mr. Pletcher helped Mr. Nichols with a push start. Mr. Coombes got in the car with Mr. Nichols as he drove away. Id. at 273. Days later, Mr. Nichols' body was found on the hillside.

8. The police arrested and interviewed Mr. Coombes.

The police identified Mr. Coombes as a suspect. On September 5, 2007, Mr. Coombes was seen walking down a Spokane street with Eric Nelson.⁴ RP December 14, 2011, at 444-45. Detectives Peterson and Burbridge moved in to contact Mr. Coombes. Id. at 444-45, 463. Mr. Coombes was put on the ground. Mr. Coombes told Detective Burbridge he had a gun in his pocket. Detective Burbridge removed a revolver from Mr. Coombes pocket. Id. at 463. Detectives Peterson and Burbridge testified Mr. Coombes made several spontaneous statements: "You got me. It's no big deal. I'm going back where I belong. I'll die in prison." Id. at 447, 465.

At a nearby residence, the police found ammunition for the revolver in Mr. Coombes' backpack. RP December 15, 2011, at 521-24.

⁴ Eric Nelson is also sometimes referred to as Eric Claasen. RP December 13, 2011, at 234-35; RP December 14, 2011, at 444.

Detectives Burbridge and Madsen interviewed Mr. Coombes. RP December 14, 2011, at 466-84; RP December 15, 2011, at 597-613. Although there were certainly inconsistencies between the detectives' testimony, each testified that Mr. Coombes, in essence, said the following:

He was mad at Mr. Nichols for threatening his nephew Chris Landis. He helped push-start the Datsun and got into it as Mr. Nichols drove away. It was just himself, Mr. Nichols, and the dog in the car. Mr. Nichols was very drunk. Mr. Nichols said he used methamphetamine intravenously and wanted to get some. He told Mr. Nichols he would take him to a meth dealer. But he had no intent to take Mr. Nichols to a dealer. Instead, he directed Mr. Nichols to drive to a rural area close to town. He told Mr. Nichols he needed to urinate but he really did not need to. Mr. Nichols stopped. The car stalled. Mr. Nichols got out of the car to help push-start it. He pulled the revolver out of his pocket and shot Mr. Nichols behind the ear. Mr. Nichols never saw it coming. He rolled Mr. Nichols' body down an embankment. He let the dog loose. He parked the Datsun at a biker bar and left it there. He smoked methamphetamine residue and drank vodka earlier in the evening but he was not high or drunk when he shot Mr. Nichols. RP December 14, 2011, 466-84; RP December 15, 2011, at 597-613.

9. Mr. Coombes purportedly said things to his friends.

Some of Mr. Coombes' friends and associates from 2007 testified at trial.

Jamie Hall testified Mr. Coombes told her he killed Mr. Nichols. RP December 14, 2011, at 356.

Jason Pletcher testified later in the evening after Mr. Coombes left with Mr. Nichols, Mr. Coombes walked up to him, gave him a hug, and told him he killed someone. Mr. Pletcher assumed Mr. Coombes was talking about Mr. Nichols but that he was only joking. RP December 13, 2011, at 271, 276.

Eric Nelson testified he heard Mr. Coombes say, in reference to Mr. Nichols, "he's done." RP December 13, 2011, at 243-44. Like Mr. Pletcher, Mr. Nelson assumed Mr. Coombes was talking about Mr. Nichols.

10. Tevan Williams received a great plea deal in exchange for his testimony against Mr. Coombes on the tampering with a witness charge.

In July 2011, Tevan Williams was in jail in Spokane pending serious felony charges. RP December 16, 2011, at 689. He was facing a sentence of at least 52 months. RP December 14, 2011, at 428. He never met Mr. Coombes before. Id. at 428. He was in a restricted housing unit. That meant he did not have free access to other inmates to include inmates

in the same restricted housing unit. Mr. Coombes was in the same restricted housing unit awaiting trial. RP December 16, 2011, at 689-90. Mr. Williams was no stranger to jail or prison. RP December 14, 2011, at 429. He did not like being locked up. Id. at 429-30. He freely admitted that he would do dishonest and violent things if he got a benefit from it. Id. at 431.

Mr. Williams testified Mr. Coombes approached him and wanted him to make sure Eric Nelson did not appear at trial and testify against him. RP December 14, 2011, at 425. Later, Mr. Coombes purportedly gave Mr. Williams a note providing information about Eric Nelson. Id. at 425. The note told Mr. Williams to either get Mr. Nelson to not show up for trial or to testify falsely if he did show up. Id. At trial, no one identified the note as being in Mr. Coombes' handwriting.

Mr. Williams made no effort to contact Mr. Nelson. Instead, Mr. Williams gave the note to the police and later worked out a great plea deal. RP December 14, 2011, at 424-26. In exchange for testifying against Mr. Coombes, Mr. Williams pleaded guilty to a "pistol charge" with a year and a day sentence. Id. at 428. It saved him "like 40 months" in prison. The state also dismissed a residential burglary charge and a number of counts of second degree possession of stolen property. Id. at 430.

11. The court instructed the jury on an uncharged alternative means of tampering with a witness.

Based upon Mr. Williams' testimony, the state charged Mr. Coombes with tampering with a witness by attempting to induce a witness to absent himself from an official proceeding. CP 5. However, the trial court instructed the jury they could find Mr. Coombes guilty if he either attempted to induce a witness to testify falsely or to withhold any testimony or to absent himself from an official proceeding. Supp. Designation of Clerk's Papers, Court's Instructions to the Jury, Instruction 13 (sub. non 123). Mr. Coombes did not object to the court's instructions adding an alternative means of committing tampering with a witness.

12. Mr. Coombes denied killing Mr. Nichols.

Although Mr. Coombes did not testify and rested without putting on any defense witnesses, Mr. Coombes maintained his innocence. Mr. Coombes defended the charge by arguing state's witnesses succumbed to police pressure and made untrue statements to the police during their investigation. Mr. Coombes also argued that Detectives Burbridge and Madsen were so inconsistent in their retelling of Mr. Coombes' "confession" that little credence should be given to their testimony. RP December 16, 2011, at 729-49.

13. After the jury returned verdicts of guilt, Mr. Coombes filed a motion for a new trial.

The jury found Mr. Coombes not guilty of intimidating a witness but guilty of both first degree murder with a firearm enhancement and tampering with a witness. CP 19-22.

Mr. Coombes filed pro se motions for a new trial and to arrest judgment. CP 24-29. After sentencing Mr. Coombes to 476 months, the court denied both motions. RP December 16, 2011, at 784-86; CP 30.

D. ARGUMENT

1. THE TRIAL COURT DENIED MR. COOMBES A FAIR TRIAL WHEN IT JOINED THE INTIMIDATING A WITNESS AND TAMPERING WITH A WITNESS CHARGES WITH THE FIRST DEGREE MURDER CHARGE.

The trial court denied Mr. Coombes a fair trial when it granted the state's motion to join first, the intimidating a witness charge, and second, the tampering with a witness charge, with Mr. Coombes' pending first degree murder charge. Both the intimidating and the tampering allegations arose years after Mr. Coombes was charged with the murder. The added charges invited the jury to see Mr. Coombes as a person with a criminal predisposition. Because the errors were prejudicial, Mr. Coombes' convictions must be reversed.

(a) Standard of review.

A trial court's decision on a motion to sever is a question of law reviewed de novo for manifest abuse of discretion. *State v. Bryant*, 89 Wn. App. 857, 864, 950 P.2d 1004 (1998), *review denied*, 137 Wn.2d 1017 (1999). An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's exercise of discretion is manifestly unreasonable or based upon untenable grounds or reasons. *State v. Neal*, 144 Wn.2d 600, 30 P.3d 1255 (2001).

(b) Joinder of charges is prohibited when it will deny an accused a fair determination of guilt or innocence on each charge.

A criminal defendant has the constitutional right to a fair trial. U.S. Const. Amend. XIV; Wash. Const. Art. I, § 3. To protect this right, the court rules governing joinder, CrR 4.3, and severance CrR 4.4(b), "are based on the same underlying principle, that the defendant receive a fair trial untainted by undue prejudice." *Bryant*, 89 Wn. App. at 857.

CrR 4.4(b)⁵ provides the court "shall" sever counts when severance will promote a fair determination of the defendant's guilt or innocence on each offense. The term "shall" creates a mandatory duty. *State v. Krall*,

⁵ CrR 4.4(b) provides:

The court, on application of the prosecuting attorney, or on application of the defendant other than under section (a), shall grant a severance of offenses whenever before trial or during trial with consent of the defendant, the court determines that severance will promote a fair determination of the defendant's guilt or innocence of each offense.

125 Wn.2d 146, 148, 881 P.2d 1040 (1994). Although CrR 4.3⁶ permits joinder of offenses for purposes of trial, "[a] risk of prejudice, either from evidentiary spillover or transference of guilt, inheres in any joinder of offenses or defendant." *United States v. Sutton*, 605 F.2d 260, 271 (6th Cir. 1979). The risk is tolerated for purposes of judicial economy, but only so long as prejudice does not result. *Drew v. United States*, 331 F.2d 85, 88 (D.C Cir.1984).

To the extent that the distinction between review of joinder and severance issues may have become blurred, we believe it is because the potential for prejudice must be considered in determining, in advance of trial, whether joinder is proper as a matter of law, and because actual prejudice must be considered in determining, at the appellate level, whether joinder was proper as a matter of law.

Bryant, 89 Wn. App. at 865.

While the decision to grant or deny a motion to join is discretionary, Washington courts have recognized that joinder is inherently prejudicial. *State v. Smith*, 74 Wn.2d 744, 754-55, 446 P.2d 571 (1968), *vacated in part*, 406 U.S. 934, 92 S.Ct. 2852, 33 L.Ed.2d 747 (1972), *overruled on other grounds*, *State v. Gosby*, 85 Wn.2d 758, 539

⁶ CrR 4.3 provides:

-

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