I. 

APPELLANT'S ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The trial court erroneously joined the intimidating a witness and 

first degree murder charges for trial. 

2. The trial court erroneously joined the tampering with a witness and 

first degree murder charges for trial. 

3. The trial court denied defendant a fair trial by joining the charges 

for trial. 

4. The trial court abused its discretion admitting evidence of 

defendant's gun tattoo. 

5. The admission of the tattoo evidence prejudiced defendant. 

6. The information charging defendant with tampering with a witness 

did not give defendant adequate notice of the uncharged alternative 

means the jury was instructed to consider.

ISSUES PRESENTED 

1. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in joining the tampering, 

intimidating, and first degree murder charges for trial? 

2. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in admitting evidence of 

defendant's tattoo? 

3. Did the trial court commit error when it instructed the jury 

regarding an uncharged alternative means of committing the 

tampering charge? 

4. Did counsel's failure to object to the trial court's elements 

instruction for tampering with a witness constitute ineffective 

assistance of counsel? 

III. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The State accepts the Appellant's statement of the case for purposes of this 

appeal only. 
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IV. 

ARGUMENT 

A. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY EXERCISED ITS 
DISCRETION IN JOINING THE TAMPERING, 
INTIMIDA TING, AND MURDER CHARGES. 

Appellant claims that the trial court abused its discretion in granting the 

State's motion to join the tampering with a witness, intimidating a witness, and 

first degree murder charges. CrR 4.3(a) authorizes joinder of counts where the 

offenses: (1) are of the same or similar character, even if not part of a single 

scheme or plan; or (2) are based on the same conduct or a series of acts connected 

together or constituting parts of a single scheme or plan. The one proviso is that 

joinder of offenses should not be used to unduly embarrass, prejudice or deny the 

defendant a substantial right. State v. Russell, 125 Wn.2d 24, 62, 882 P.2d 747 

(1994), cert. denied, 514 U.S. 1129, 115 S. Ct. 2004, 131 L. Ed. 2d 1005 (1995). 

Prejudice can occur where the defenses to the separate offenses are contrary or 

when a single trial of separate offenses invites a jury to cumulate evidence to 

render a guilty verdict. State v. Russell, 125 Wn.2d at 63-64. To avoid such 

prejudice, the trial court must consider a number of factors to determine whether 

joinder is appropriate, including: (1) the strength of the evidence pertaining to 

each offense; (2) the clarity of the defenses to each offense; (3) the court's jury 

instruction that each offense is to be resolved separately; and (4) the 

cross-admissibility of the evidence of each offense. State v. Williams, 
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156 Wn. App. 482, 500-501, 234 P.2d 1174 (2010). Washington State has never 

favored separate trials. State v. Grisby, 97 Wn.2d 493,507,647 P.2d 6 (1982). 

Finally, the standard of review for a trial court's decision regarding joinder of 

separate offenses is abuse of discretion. State v. Russell, 125 Wn.2d at 63. 

Here, the record reflects that the trial court found joinder was appropriate 

as follows, in pertinent part: 

(1) The facts presented in cause # 2007-1-03527-4 and 2011-1-
00443-1 ... are of a same or similar character as anticipated 
by through statute and case law. Here, the Court is 
satisfied that if these matters were to be tried separately, 
there would be significant overlap and testimony that 
would clearly be cross-admissible and likely admitted into 
evidence in both proceedings. 

(2) Consolidation and/or joinder of these respective cases 
would in fact provide for judicial economy and the Court is 
unable to discern or reference any specific prejudice 
demonstrated to Defendant should the State of 
Washington's motion be granted. 

(3) The Court would find and therefore order that the State's 
motion for joinder and consolidation is appropriate and is 
granted. 

CP 136-137. 

The trial court's Order is further supported by the transcript of the hearing 

on November 3, 2011 on the motion for joinder. After reviewing the briefs 

submitted in support of and opposing the motion for joinder coupled with 

respective counsel's arguments, the trial court made its oral ruling as follows, in 

pertinent part: 
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[T]his is ... a permissive joinder issue ... the allegations in terms of 
the witness tampering are certainly within the different section of 
the RCW from a murder portion of the RCW ... But the question 
really is whether these allegations are of the same or similar 
character or can play into the same set of facts ... from my 
perspective, they are .. .1 am always looking at the question with 
permissive joinder whether there is significant amount of ... overlap 
or cross-admissibility. I'm confident there absolutely would be 
here ... my next point of analysis would be to consider how, if any 
way, this would prejudice the defendant.. .in some 
fashion ... adding charges prejudices an individual who is about to 
go to trial, but frankly, I cannot find that here. I do not see any 
prejudice to Mr. Coombes with permissive joinder in this particular 
case .. .in terms of judicial economy. Frankly, that does not impact 
me at all. If I thought, in any way, that the permissive joinder 
would impact or prejudice Mr. Coombes, I would not provide for 
it. Judicial economy is at the bottom of the list in terms of my 
concerns. Mr. Coombes right to a fair trial is at the top .. .It should 
be pointed out.. . that jurors are ... instructed that your verdict on 
one count does not control your verdict on any other 
count. .. Finding no prejudice to Mr. Coombes, finding hat the 
issues are ... overlapping and cross-admissible, I'm going to grant 
the State's motion for joinder and consolidation. 

Report of Proceedings ("RP") - 110311, pages 6-7. 

As the trial court noted, all evidence is prejudicial to one side or the other; 

that is why it is introduced. Carson v. Fine, 123 Wn.2d 206, 224, 867 P.2d 610 

(1994). Here, the defendant failed to demonstrate that the prejudice resulting 

from the joining of the charges was greater than the benefits derived from same. 

The defendant failed to establish that the trial court abused its discretion when 

ordering the charges joined. Accordingly, the record reflects that the trial court 

clearly set forth its reasoning, the basis therefore, and its decision granting the 

motion to join the charges. 
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B. JOINDER OF THE CHARGED OFFENSES 
PROTECTED DEFENDANT'S RIGHT TO A FAIR 
TRIAL. 

Defendant claims that the joinder of the witness tampering and 

intimidating a witness charges with the murder deprived him of a fair trial based 

upon an application of the Watkins factors. State v. Watkins, 53 Wn. App. 264, 

766 P.2d 484 (1989). The Watkins factors are those same concerns that were 

previously identified by the citation to the Supreme Court's decision in 

State v. Russell, supra, wherein the Court reiterated the factors it had set out in its 

decision in State v. Smith, 74 Wn.2d 744, 754, 446 P.2d 571 (1968). As discussed 

in the prior section, the record reflects that the trial court was very cognizant of 

the factors for determining whether the potential for prejudice required separate 

trials of the charges against defendant. 

Defendant contends that the trial court failed to consider the factors in 

rendering its decision vis-a.-vis the motion for joinder. Defendant's position 

simply ignores that the trial court specified that its decision regarding joinder was 

based upon its review of the "files and records herein . . . the State's memorandum 

of authority ... the Defendant's memorandum of authority ... [and] counsel's 

argument. CP 136-137. The record reflects that the trial court was vey much 

concerned about the impact of the joining of charges upon the defendant's right to 

a fair trial. 110311-RP 6-7. Neither the Watkins nor Russell decisions require the 
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trial court articulate an analysis which sets forth its reasons for granting or 

denying a motion to join or sever charges with respect to each identified factor. 

Nevertheless, here, the trial court specifically referenced that the subject 

charges were of such a same or similar character that there would be significant 

overlap of cross-admissible evidence in any trial of the charges. Defendant 

denied committing the murder, so there would have been no necessity for 

defendant to commit the tampering or intimidating charges; hence, there was 

clarity of defenses. Finally, as noted, the trial court noted the potential for 

prejudice, yet found that joinder of the charges for trial did not raise any 

articulable issues of prejudice. The defendant's post-trial reliance upon the jury's 

verdict is hindsight, yet adds nothing to the analysis of whether the trial court 

abused its discretion in joining the charges for trial. At the time the trial court 

weighed the evidence for purpose of resolving the motion, the anticipated 

evidence was strong enough to support the decision to join the charges. The 

record reflects no basis to conclude that the trial court's joining of charges 

deprived defendant of a fair trial. 

C. EVIDENCE OF DEFENDANT'S TATTOO WAS 
PROPERL Y ADMITTED AND DEFENDANT WAS 
NOT UNDULY PREJUDICED BY ITS ADMISSION. 

Defendant contends that the court improperly admitted a photograph of his 

gun tattoo acquired after the incident. Defendant characterizes the tattoo as 
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irrelevant, highly prejudicial and evidence of defendant's previous guilty plea to 

the murder charge. Absent the jury being advised that defendant acquired the 

tattoo as a memento of his prior guilty plea, the jury would be completely 

unaware of any prior guilty plea. The significance of the tattoo to the defendant 

would not be intuitively obvious to the casual observer. Hence, evidence of 

defendant's gun tattoo could only be characterized as highly prejudicial if the jury 

were provided the background story of its significance to defendant; otherwise, it 

is simply a gun tattoo. 

The State offered the tattoo as evidence of the defendant's 

acknowledgement that the murder weapon was a Smith & Wesson .38 revolver 

which appeared remarkably similar to the tattoo. The State's theory being that 

sometime after committing the murder, the defendant took enough pride in his act 

that he had a depiction of the weapon he used tattooed on his body. Nevertheless, 

the evidence of the tattoo admitted before the jury was simply that of the gun 

without any further explanation. The fact that after the incident the defendant 

had tattooed onto his body a depiction of the exact firearm that witnesses took 

from defendant is of significance and relevant because it helps establish and 

corroborate defendant's identity with the murder. The fact of the tattoo of the gun 

on his body corroborates defendant's own statements to law enforcement 

admitting his participation in the murder. Finally, the admission of the tattoo 
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could not constitute a violation of ER 410 since the rule only applies to plea 

negotiations. 

A trial court has broad discretion in the admission or exclusion of 

photographic evidence. State v. Tatum, 58 Wn.2d 73, 75, 360 P.2d 754 (1961). 

The decision to admit photographs as evidence lies within the sound discretion of 

the trial court. Id, 58 Wn.2d at 75. Discretion is abused if it is exercised on 

untenable grounds or for untenable reasons. State ex rel. Carroll v. Junker, 

79 Wn.2d 12, 26, 482 P.2d 775 (1971). The test also is sometimes viewed in a 

second way: whether any reasonable judge would rule as the trial judge did. 

State v. Nelson, 108 Wn.2d 491,504-505, 740 P.2d 835 (1987). 

Here, the trial court specifically weighed the probative versus 

prejudicial value of the photograph and factored in the holding in State v. Nelson, 

152 Wn. App. 755, 219 P.3d 100 (2009), combined with the nature and timing of 

the tattoo in determining its admissibility. 121311-RP 200-201 . Hence, 

defendant has not established that the trial court abused its discretion in admitting 

the cropped photograph of defendant's gun tattoo. 

Defendant also contends that the trial court abused its discretion admitting 

the photograph under ER 404(b). There is no ER 404(b) issue here because the 

act of getting a tattoo is not evidence of other crimes or bad acts absent some 

elaboration by defendant regarding why he acquired same. Moreover, it is 

evidence that tends to establish defendant's knowledge of intimate details of the 
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murder that could only be known by a participant therein which renders its more 

probative than prejudicial. When combined with all the other relevant evidence 

admitted before the jury the tattoo provides significant evidence which connects 

defendant to the murder, yet does not prevent defendant from claiming that the 

cropped photo of the tattoo signified that defendant liked Smith & Wesson .38 

caliber revolvers. This situation properly leaves the weight and credibility to be 

accorded the photograph of the tattoo to the jury as the trier of fact. There was no 

abuse of discretion committed by the trial court in admitting the cropped 

photograph of defendant's tattoo. Finally, defendant was not unduly prejudiced 

by the admission of the tattoo photograph. 

D. THE WITNESS TAMPERING CONVICTION SHOULD 
BE REVERSED AND REMANDED FOR A NEW TRIAL 
DUE TO THE TRIAL COURT'S ERROR 
INSTRUCTING THE JURY ON AN UNCHARGED 
ALTERNATIVE MEANS OF COMMITTING SAME. 

The defendant was charged by information with Tampering with a 

Witness by means of attempting to induce a witness in an official proceeding to 

absent himself from such proceedings. CP 5. During trial the State produced 

evidence to support the alternative means of committing the charged crime; 

however, the State's proposed jury instructions included the uncharged alternative 

means. CP 69-98. The trial court's instructions to the jury incorporated the 

State's erroneous witness tampering elements instruction. The record includes 
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sufficient evidence for the jury to find defendant guilty of either alternative means 

of committing the charged crime. When a statute provides that crime may be 

committed by alternative means, yet the information charges only one alternative, 

it is error to instruct the jury that it may consider the uncharged alternative means 

regardless of the strength of the evidence admitted at trial that supports the 

uncharged alternative. State v. Bray, 52 Wn. App. 30, 34, 756 P.2d 1332 (1988) 

(citing State v. Severns, 13 Wn.2d 542, 546-548, 125 P.2d 659 (1942). 

Accordingly, the State respectfully submits that the tampering with a witness 

conviction be reversed and remanded to the trial court for a new trial. 

VI. 

CONCLUSION 

For the reasons stated herein, the defendant's conviction and sentence with 

respect to the murder in the first degree count should be affirmed, while the 

conviction for tampering with a witness should be reversed and remanded for a new 

trial.